CHEMICAL HERITAGE FOUNDATION

SANDRA J.F. DEGEN

The Pew Scholars Program in the Biomedical Sciences

Transcript of an Interview Conducted by

Susan M. Lindee and Sarah Goldfine

at

Coronado, California

on

3 March 1991

{With subsequent corrections and additions)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This oral history is part of a series supported by a grant from the Pew Charitable Trusts based on the Pew Scholars Program in the Biomedical Sciences. This collection is an important resource for the history of biomedicine, recording the life and careers of young, distinguished biomedical scientists and of Pew Scholars Program in the Biomedical Sciences Advisory Committee members.

This oral history is made possible through the generosity of



THE BECKMAN CENTER FOR THE HISTORY OF CHEMISTRY

Oral History Program

RELEASE FORM

This document contains my understanding and agreement with the Beckman Center for the History of Chemistry with respect to my participation in a tape-recorded interview conducted by on 3 March 1991 Susan Lindee and Sarah Goldfine

I have read the transcript supplied by the Beckman Center and returned it with my corrections and emendations.

- The tapes and corrected transcript (collectively called the 1. "Work") will be maintained by the Beckman Center and made available in accordance with general policies for research and other scholarly purposes.
- I hereby grant, assign, and transfer to the Beckman Center 2. all right, title, and interest in the Work, including the literary rights and the copyright, except that I shall retain the right to copy, use and publish the Work in part or in full until my death.
- The manuscript may be read and the tape(s) heard by scholars 3. approved by the Beckman Center subject to the restrictions listed below. The scholar pledges not to quote from, cite, or reproduce by any means this material except with the written permission of the Beckman Center.
- I wish to place the following conditions that I have checked 4. below upon the use of this interview. I understand that the Beckman Center will enforce my wishes until the time of my death, when any restrictions will be removed.
 - a. χ No restrictions for access.
 - b. _____ My permission required to quote or reproduce.
 - c. _____ My permission required for access to the entire document and all tapes.

This constitutes our entire and complete understanding.

(Signature) <u>Aandra F. 7. Legen</u> Sandra J.F. Degen

(Revised 30 November 1990)

This oral history is designated Free Access.

Please note: Users citing this interview for purposes of publication are obliged under the terms of the Chemical Heritage Foundation (CHF) Oral History Program to credit CHF using the format below:

Sandra J.F. Degen, interview by Susan M. Lindee and Sarah Goldfine at Coronado, California, 3 March 1991 (Philadelphia: Chemical Heritage Foundation, Oral History Transcript # 0634).



Chemical Heritage Foundation Oral History Program 315 Chestnut Street Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106



The Chemical Heritage Foundation (CHF) serves the community of the chemical and molecular sciences, and the wider public, by treasuring the past, educating the present, and inspiring the future. CHF maintains a world-class collection of materials that document the history and heritage of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; encourages research in CHF collections; and carries out a program of outreach and interpretation in order to advance an understanding of the role of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries in shaping society.

SANDRA J.F. DEGEN

1955	Born in Glendale, California on 15 January
	Education
1976	B.A., with honors, Chemistry, University of California, San Diego (Revelle College)
1982	Ph.D., Biochemistry, University of Washington
	Professional Experience
1983	University of Washington Senior Fellow
1983-1985	Friedrich Meister-Institut, Basel, Switzerland Senior Fellow
	University of Cincinnati Medical Center
1985-present	Assistant Professor of Pediatrics
	Honors
1977-1978	NIH Predoctoral Fellowship
1978	Elected membership in the American Chemical Society
1987-1991	Pew Scholar in the Biomedical Sciences
1989	Elected membership in the American Society of Hematology
1989	Elected membership in American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology
1990	Special Reviewer for NIH Hematology I Study Section
1990-present	Established Investigator of the American Heart Association

Selected Publications

Doolittle, R.F., Cassman, K.G., Cottrell, B.A., Friezner, S.J., Hucko, J.T., and Takagi, "T. Amino acid sequence studies on the α chain of human fibrinogen. Characterization of 11 cyanogen bromide fragments," *Biochemistry* 16 (1977): 1703-9.
Doolittle, R.F., Cassman, K.G., Cottrell, B.A., Friezner, S.J., and Takagi, "T. Amino acid

sequence studies on the α chain of human fibrinogen. Covalent structure of the α -chain portion of fragment D," *Biochemistry* 16 (1977): 1710-5.

- Doolittle, R.F., Cassman, K.G., Cottrell, B.A., and Friezner, S.J., "Amino acid sequence studies on the α chain of human fibrinogen. Isolation and characterization of two linked α-chain cyanogen bromide fragments from fully cross-linked fibrin," *Biochemistry* 16 (1977): 1715-9.
- Doolittle, R.F., Takagi, T., Watt, K., Bouma, H., III, Cottrell, B.A., Cassman, K.G., Goldbaum, D.M., Doolittle, L.R., and Friezner, S.J., "The structures of fibrinogen and fibrin." FEBS Vol. 47 (1977), Symp. A6, Regulatory proteolytic enzymes and their inhibitors: 163-72.
- MacGillivray, R.T.A., Degen, S.J. Friezner, Chandra, T., Woo, S.L.C., and Davie, E.W., "Cloning and analysis of a cDNA coding for bovine prothrombin," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77 (1980): 5153-7.
- Kurachi, K., Chandra, T., Degen, S.J. Friezner, White, T.T., Marchioro, T.L., Woo, S.L.C., and Davie, E.W., "Cloning and sequence of cDNA coding for α-l-antitrypsin," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 78 (1981): 6826-30.
- Degen, S.J. Friezner, MacGillivray, R.T.A., and Davie, E.W., "The structure of the human prothrombin gene and a related gene," in P. Nagley, A.W. Linnane, W.J. Peacock, and J.A. Pateman, eds., *Manipulation and Expression of Genes in Eukaryotes* (Sydney: Academic Press, 1983): 13-6.
- Degen, J.L., Neubauer, M.G., Degen, S.J. Friezner, Seyfried, C.E., and Morris, D.R., "Regulation of protein synthesis in mitogen-activated bovine lymphocytes. Analysis of actin-specific and total mRNA accumulation and utilization," *J. Biol. Chem.* 258 (1983): 12153-62.
- Degen, S.J. Friezner, MacGillivray, R.T.A., and Davie, E.W., "Characterization of the complementary deoxyribonucleic acid and gene coding for human prothrombin," *Biochemistry* 22 (1983): 2087-97.
- Davie, E.W., Degen, S.J. Friezner, Yoshitake, S., and Kurachi, K., "Cloning of vitamin Kdependent clotting factors," *Dev. Biochem.* 25 (1983): 45-52.
- Davie, E.W., Chung, D.W., Degen, S.J. Friezner, Kurachi, K., Rixon, M.W. and Yoshitake, S., "The cloning of blood coagulation factors," in Ahmad et al., eds., ICSU Short Reports-Advances in Gene Technology: Human Genetics Disorders: Proc. 16th Miami Winter Symp.
- Rajput, B., Degen, S.J. Friezner, Reich, E., Waller, E.K., Axelrod, J., Eddy, R.L., and Shows, T.B., "Chromosomal locations of human tissue plasminogen activator and urokinase genes," *Science* 230 (1985): 672-4.
- Degen, S.J. Friezner, Rajput, B., Reich, E. and Davie, E.W., "Coagulation and fibrinolysis: characterization of the human prothrombin and human tissue plasminogen activator genes," in H. Peeters, ed., *Protides of the Biological Fluids* Vol. 33 (Oxford: Pergamon Press, 1985): 47-50.
- Rajput, B., Degen, S.J. Friezner, Reich, E., and Shows, T.B., "Mapping tissue plasminogen activator and urokinase genes to human chromosomes," in H. Peeters, ed., *Protides of the Biological Fluids* Vol. 33 (Oxford: Pergamon Press1985): 99-101.
- Davie, E.W., and Degen, S.J. Friezner, "Human prothrombin: Its structure, function, and gene,"

in S. Ebashi, ed., *Cellular Regulation and Malignant Growth: Lipmann Symposium* (Tokyo: Japan Scientific Societies Press, 1985): 3-8.

- Degen, S.J. Friezner, Rajput, B., and Reich, E., "The human tissue plasminogen activator gene," *J. Biol. Chem.* 261 (1986): 6972-85.
- Degen, S.J. Friezner and Davie, E.W., "The prothrombin gene and serine proteinase evolution," *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 485 (1986): 66-72.
- Degen, S.J.Friezner and Davie, E.W., "The nucleotide sequence of the gene for human prothrombin," *Biochemistry* 26 (1987): 6165-77.
- Degen, S.J.Friezner, Heckel, J.L., Reich, E., and Degen, J.L., "The murine urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene," *Biochemistry* 26 (1987): 8270-9.
- Degen, S.J.Friezner, Bell, S.M., Schaefer, L.A., and Elliott, R.W., "Characterization of the cDNA coding for mouse plasminogen and localization of the gene to mouse chromosome 17," *Genomics* 8 (1990): 49-61.
- Degen, S.J. Friezner, Schaefer, L.A., Jamison, C.S., Grant, S.G., Fitzgibbon, J.J., Pai, J-A., Chapman, V.M., and Elliott, R.W., "Characterization of the cDNA coding for mouse prothrombin and localization of the gene on mouse chromosome 2," *DNA and Cell Biology* (formerly DNA) 9 (1990): 487-98.
- Bancroft, J.D., Schaefer, L.A., and Degen, S.J. Friezner, "Characterization of the Alu-rich 5' flanking region of the human prothrombin-encoding gene: identification of a positive cis-acting element that regulates liver-specific expression," *Gene* 95 (1990): 253-60.

ABSTRACT

Sandra J.F. Degen grew up in the San Fernando Valley, outside of Los Angeles, California, one of four children. Her father was a scientist and her mother a seamstress and homemaker. She says her childhood was an ordinary happy one. She did well in school but did not decide on science as a career until college. There was no religion in the family.

It was expected that the children would go to college, and Sandra chose the University of California, San Diego. Originally she had thought to major in mathematics, but in her second year she decided to switch to chemistry. Sandra entered Russell Doolittle's lab, where she worked on fibrinogen. She found Doolittle to be very helpful and supportive. She met Jay Degen, who was also a chemistry student, and they married right after college.

On Doolittle's advice the Degens both entered graduate school at the University of Washington, Sandra in Earl Davie's lab. Sandra worked under Kazuo Fujikawa for three unsuccessful years before changing projects and completing her PhD thesis on human prothrombin. She compares her confident attitude with her husband's and points out that both have succeeded.

Edward Reich, who had just left Rockefeller University for Meischer Institut in Basel, Switzerland, recruited both Degens for his lab. They spent two years there, working, writing some papers, and doing some travelling. At that point they were ready to return to the United States and to find jobs, always more complicated with both spouses being scientists.

They were pursued by three institutions, most aggressively by Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, where both ultimately accepted assistant professorships in the pediatrics department and where both have progressed through tenure reviews to professorships. Sandra has good funding; her lab is small but growing; her work is going well. She talks about her two-and-a-half-year-old daughter and how difficult it is to find as much time as she would like to spend playing with her. She discusses her lab management philosophy. She explains that she loves her science but that she also enjoys the administrative duties involved and says that in ten years she may want to be doing more of the administration or perhaps something altogether different.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Early Years	1
Family background. Religious influence. Likes mathematics. High school chemistry class. Parental expectations.	
College Years	4
Matriculates into University of California, San Diego. Considers math major, switches to chemistry after challenging class. Meets future husband. Enters Russell Doolittle's laboratory to work on fibrinogen, while fiancé, Jay Degen, enters Jack Kyte's lab.	
Graduate School Years	6
Mentored by Doolittle, she and husband go to University of Washington for graduate school. Her confident attitude. Works on human prothrombin in Earl Davie's lab. Three years with no progress, but then PhD three years later. Cross-species hybridization. Independent attitude.	
Postgraduate Years	22
Both Degens hired by Edward Reich at Friedrich Miescher Institut in Basel, Switzerland. Work and travel for two years. Looking for jobs.	
Faculty Years	29
Considers University of Vermont. Both accept assistant professor positions at Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center. Funding. Lab size, management, and growth. Writing grants. Two-year-old daughter. Professional goals and aspirations.	

Index

44

INDEX

А

alpha-l-antitrypsin, 18

В

Basel, Switzerland, 22, 23, 26, 27 Baylor University, 17 Birmingham [California] High School, 3 Boston, Massachusetts, 29 Brent, Roger, 42

С

Cal Tech. See California Institute of Technology California Institute of Technology, 9 chemistry protein chemistry, 10, 16, 21 Children's Hospital Research Foundation, 30 Ciba-Geigy, 24, 25 Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, 28, 30, 33 Cincinnati, Ohio, 28

D

Davie, Earl W., 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 23, 25, 27, 28, 29, 32, 37 Degen, Jay L. (husband), 6 Detroit, Michigan, 28 DNA, 26 cDNA, 18 Doolittle, Russell F., 6, 10, 13, 21, 25

F

fibrinogen, 7 FMI. See Friedrich Miescher Institut Friedrich Miescher Institut, 22, 24 Fujikawa, Kazuo, 15

G

Genentech, 21, 22

Η

Harvard University, 4, 9, 10, 25 Hutton Jr., John J., 29

I

Ixtapa, Mexico, 36

Κ

Korn, Lawrence J., 22 Kyte, Jack E., 6

L

Linck, Robert G., 5 Los Angeles, California, 6

Μ

MacGillivray, Ross T. A., 16 Mann, Kenneth, 29 Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 9, 25 MIT. See Massachusetts Institute of Technology Morris, David R., 26

Ν

National Academy of Sciences, 7, 19 National Institutes of Health, 12 NIH. See National Institutes of Health Nobel Prize, 10

Р

Pew Scholars in the Biomedical Sciences, 32, 41 Procter Scholars Program, 38 prothrombin, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 26 Purdue University, 9, 10

R

Radcliffe College, 4 Rajput, Bhanu, 28 Reich, Edward, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 32, 37 Reseda [California] High School, 3 Revelle, Roger D., 4 RNA, 17, 18 Rockefeller University, 22, 24

S

San Fernando Valley, California, 3 San Francisco, California, 22, 29 Seattle, Washington, 17, 22, 23 Stanford University, 9, 10, 22 Switzerland, 22, 25

Т

Taft High School, 3 tissue plasminogen activator, 26 U

University of California, 4 University of California, Berkeley, 9, 10 University of California, Los Angeles, 10 University of California, San Diego, 4, 5 University of California, Santa Cruz, 10 University of Toledo, 29 University of Vermont, 29 University of Washington, 6, 9, 10 Urey, Harold C., 10

V

Vehar, Gordon A., 22

W

Walsh, Kenneth A., 14 Woo, Savio L.C., 17

Y

Yale University, 9, 10